

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West Central Africa Through Nurse Education

Frida Ashu Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Frida Ashu

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Cynthia Fletcher, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Courtney Nyange, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Jonas Nguh, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West Central Africa Through Nurse Education

by

Frida Ashu

MS, Walden University, 2017 BSN, Arizona State University, 2011

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

February 2023

Abstract

Nosocomial infections are acquired after being hospitalized. Lack of nurses' education pertaining to nosocomial infections increase the risk of infections. Nurses working in the target facility in West Central Africa were not knowledgeable about current evidencebased infection control practices. The purpose of this project was to educate nurses on how to reduce the rate of nosocomial infections. The analysis, design, develop, implement, and evaluate model was used to guide the development of this project. Three experts evaluated the education program for content validity and usability. The program was presented as a PowerPoint to 40 health care workers via Zoom. The participants completed a pretest before participating in the program and a posttest after participating in the program. Descriptive and inferential statistics were analyzed to assess the difference between the pre- and posttest scores (t=4.95, p < .05). Results showed post test scores were significantly increased. Finding validated the need to educate nurses working in a health care setting in West Central Africa about nosocomial infections and provide them with the skills to identify the risk factors and implement preventive measures to reduce these risks.

Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West Central Africa Through Nurse Education

by

Frida Ashu

MS, Walden University, 2017

BSN, Arizona State University, 2011

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

February 2023

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I want to thank God Almighty for making me come this far and for giving me the strength to overcome the ups and downs encountered during this project. Secondly, I would like to give special thanks to my committee chair, Dr Cynthia Fletcher, who through her earnest and relentless contributions made this project a huge success. Also, I would like to thank my committee members for letting my project be an enjoyable moment, and for your brilliant questions and suggestions, thank you. I would like to thank my team at the Tiko General Hospital in Cameroon, especially the directors, doctors, supervisors, infection control department staff, and nurses for the big role they played and for the opportunity they gave me in carrying out my project. Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for their continuous support and understanding when writing my project; your prayer and good wish for me was what brought me this far.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Section 1: Nature of the Project	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	5
Nature of the Doctoral Project	5
Significance	6
Summary	7
Section 2: Background and Context	9
Concepts, Models, and Theories	9
Relevance to Nursing Practice	12
Local Background and Context	13
History of the Broader Problem in Nursing Practice	13
Institutional Context	14
Definitions of Locally Used Terms or Operational Processes	14
Role of the DNP Student	16
Motivation and Perspectives	17
Potential Biases	
Role of the Project Team	18
Summary	18
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence	

Table of Contents

Practice-Focused Question	21
Operational Definitions	22
Sources of Evidence	22
Evidence Generated for the Doctoral Project	23
Participants	
Procedures	
Learning Objectives	
Protections	
Analysis and Synthesis	26
Summary	26
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	28
Findings and Implications	29
Sources of Evidence	
Findings	
Unanticipated Events	
Implications	
Recommendations	35
Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team	35
Strengths and Limitations of the Project	36
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	
Analysis of Self	
Summary	

References	41
Appendix A: Invitation Flyer	48
Appendix B: PowerPoint Presentation	49
Appendix C: Pre- and Posttest	51
Appendix D: Expert Evaluation	56
Appendix E: Course Evaluation	57

List of Tables

Table 1	Pre- and Posttest Results for Each Question		
Table 2	T Statistics Pretest and Posttest	33	

List of Figures	
-----------------	--

Figure 1 ADDIE Model 10

Section 1: Nature of the Project

In subacute care settings, nosocomial infections remain prevalent health-related illnesses that require urgent intervention from medical experts. These types of illnesses are also known as health-care-associated infections (HAIs) and are spread to people operating within a health facility. Nosocomial ailments tend to occur in different areas of health care delivery, such as hospitals, long-term care facilities, and ambulatory settings, as well as after discharge (Sikora, 2021). According to the estimate statistics provided by the World Health Organization (2021), there was a revelation that 7 in every 100 hospitalized patients in developed countries are diagnosed with one or more nosocomial infections. The situation is worse in developing countries where the figure of hospitalized patients having these infections rises to 10 in every 100 people (Gaikwad et al., 2018). The occurrence of these infections mostly affects inpatients who have critical illnesses because these infections commonly occur in acute and subacute care settings. According to Gaikwad et al. (2018), the increase in the prevalence of nosocomial infections in subacute care settings, especially in developing countries, is an alarming threat to health providers as well as patients. The situation is worse in sub-Saharan Africa because there is a lack of sufficient resources as well poor compliance with evidence-based infection prevention and control guidelines (Iliyasu et al., 2016). This warranted the creation of an education program for nurses that helps them accumulate knowledge on compliance with evidence-based control practices that assist with the prevention of infections and decrease the rate of nosocomial illnesses acquired from hospitals in West Central Africa.

Problem Statement

Failure to adhere to evidence-based infection control practices in the health care setting can lead to the spread of infections. Nosocomial illnesses are prevalent in many health care environments around the world (See Sikora and Zahra, 202). These outcomes arise when there is improper follow-up of control measures by health experts (Khan et al., 2017). These infections are typically absent at the time of admission and occur during health care delivery or long after the patient's discharge. The population that is most at risk of getting these infections is patients in burn, subacute, and intensive care units. Patients who go through organ transplantation are also at risk (Revelas, 2012). The burden of nosocomial infections is significant because of the prolonged hospital stay, the possibility of long-term disability, enhanced antimicrobial resistance, socioeconomic interruption, and increased mortality rate (Revelas, 2012). A study conducted by Bouza et al. (2019) indicated that up to 10% of hospitalized patients around the world have the risk of developing nosocomial infections. HAIs are associated with about 1% mortality rate of hospitalized patients around the world. There are 190 million patients admitted to hospitals around the world annually. Therefore, 1% of 19 million infections represents 190,000 deaths (Nouetchognou et al., 2016). These data are alarming because nosocomial infections are preventable; therefore, these deaths are avoidable.

Nosocomial infections are reported in hospitals of both developed and developing countries. However, the high percentage of prevalence of the illnesses is noted in developing nations. Countries such France and the United States have an estimated 7% and 5% occurrence rate of HAIs compared to a 25% rate that has been reported in most

African countries (Nouetchognou et al., 2016). Nouetchognou et al. (2016) conducted a study with 307 patients over a 6-month period in a university hospital in West Central Africa. Nouetchognou et al. identified a cumulative infection rate of 19.21%, with a variance of 16.9%–21.5%. A national policy on surveillance, prevention, and management of nosocomial infections had not been adopted in the West Central African country. Therefore, effective infection prevention and control practices are needed in the West Central African country. Inadequate compliance of nurses with infection prevention measures has increased the risk of infections (Revelas, 2012). In a cross-sectional study conducted in Northwest Nigeria on nurses' knowledge of and attitudes toward infection prevention, approximately 52% of doctors and 76% of nurses (p = 0.002) always practice hand hygiene while offering patient care. Similar findings were reported by Alrubaiee et al. (2017) in a cross-sectional study. Nurses demonstrated limited knowledge about effective measures to prevent infections.

If nurses are educated on infection control prevention measures, they may have the information necessary to improve their knowledge and practices to reduce nosocomial infections. Peter et al. (2018) concluded that adherence to infection control guidelines improved with appropriate nurse education. Education is essential to the nursing profession and provides unique opportunities for the reduction of infections and the promotion of patient safety in clinical settings.

When patients enter the health care facility, they expect to recover from their illness without additional trauma. Compliance with infection prevention programs can reduce the prevalence of nosocomial infections by 55% (Jenkins, 2017). Nurses learn

about infection prevention, and they are significant health care providers in prevention efforts (Faraji et al., 2016). The continued occurrence of nosocomial infections in a large subacute facility in West Central Africa suggests poor compliance with infection control measures. The administrator confirmed that this facility has yet to implement surveillance programs and prevention measures. Nurses contribute to reducing infections because they take care of patients and spend considerable time with them. For example, they provide medications, dress patients' wounds, and sterilize working areas, and disinfect working apparatuses in clinical settings to prevent infections (Alrubaiee et al., 2017; Burnett, 2018). Mistakes with the drug administration process can result in a sharp increase in the rate of infections; for example, if the skin is not disinfected before injecting medication into the patient, infecting organisms may be introduced during the process. Additionally, when nurses begin working without sterilizing trolleys, they can transfer infections from one patient to another (Reddy et al., 2019).

Nurses are best suited to recognize the risks of infections and prevent them. According to Gruda and Sopjani (2017), many nurses do not understand or implement infection prevention measures as required. In West Central Africa, the increased infection rates are attributed to insufficient resources, congregate environment and inadequate knowledge of infection control practices by the hospital staff (Nouetchognou et al., 2016). In the current project, I sought to fill this gap by developing an education program to increase nurses' knowledge of infection control practices. Educating health care providers in this West Central Africa subacute facility may provide them with information about infection

control and empower them to implement these practices that may decrease the facility's infection rate.

Purpose Statement

The nursing profession can reduce the rate of nosocomial infections in this region in West Central Africa, but knowledge and resource barriers exist. This doctor of nursing practice project addressed the gap in practice relating to nurses' lack of knowledge about strategies to prevent and control nosocomial infections in the identified health care setting in West Central Africa. The purpose of the DNP project was to develop an evidencebased education program to educate nurses about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infection in a subacute facility in West Central Africa. The practice-focused question was the following: Will an education program about infection control principles increase nurses' knowledge about infection control practices needed to decrease nosocomial infections in hospitalized patients in health institutions located in West Central Africa?

Nature of the Doctoral Project

Evidence for this project was obtained from multiple sources including a literature review and informal communication with the clinic staff. I used search engines such as CINAHL, MEDLINE, and EMBASE for the literature review. The search strategies were formulated using a combination of medical subject headings such as infection control/ methods hand disinfection standards, cross infection/ prevention and control, health personnel, CDC Basic Infection Prevention and Control guideline, and West Africa. The source types were scholarly journals, dissertations and theses, and trade journals published between 2015 and 2020. The key words used were *knowledge*, *healthcare workers*, *hospital acquired infections*, *infection control*, *intensive care unit*, and *practice*. The literature I used focused on nosocomial infection control in health care personnel in West Central Africa. The information obtained from the literature and my personal communication with the administrator at the facility revealed the need for further interventions to prevent nosocomial infections in the health care system in a country in West Central Africa. The level of infection in the health care setting in West Central Africa was high (Jenkins, 2017). I discussed the purpose of the project with the administrator and obtained permission to present the education program to the nurses in the hospital.

After obtaining approval of Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB 05-04-22-0444852), I developed the program using the Walden staff education manual and the analysis, design, develop, implement, and evaluate (ADDIE) model as a guide. I also completed the PowerPoint presentation and the pre- and posttest. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Basic Infection Prevention and Control guideline was used as a guide to develop the educational content. I obtained formative evaluation from the content experts and revised the content based on their recommendations. Finally, I presented the completed program to the administrator and key stakeholders in the facility.

Significance

Health-care-associated infections and antimicrobial immunity represent essential threats to national health. Nosocomial infections are preventable with appropriate

interventions. A study on the efficacy of nosocomial infection control showed 32% of infections were preventable when a well-organized infection surveillance and control program is in place (Reed & Kemmerly, 2009). Jenkins (2017) noted that the prevalence of nosocomial infections can be significantly reduced when infection prevention programs are followed. However, the infection rate was 19.21% in a university hospital in West Central Africa (Nouetchognou et al., 2016).

The current project had the potential to support Walden University's mission to promote positive social change by improving health outcomes for patients admitted to the university hospital in the West Central region of Africa. More specifically, the results of this staff education program had the potential for positive social change for patients, nurses, the hospital, and the community. The knowledge obtained from the education program may be used by nurses to develop plans of care for patients to reduce the frequency of nosocomial infections in their clinical settings (see Khan et al., 2017). Health care professionals may have the information needed to develop infection prevention policies and procedures with the potential to reduce nosocomial infections. Implementation of infection control strategies in the project site hospital has the potential to decrease the length of hospitalization for the patients, decrease the cost to the hospital, and increase the overall health of the community.

Summary

Nosocomial infections are prevalent worldwide; however, developing regions such as West Central Africa are affected at a higher rate. In a subacute facility in West Central Africa, the infection rate was higher (25%) than in countries such as the United

States and France (7% and 5%, respectively; Nouetchognou et al., 2016). The nurses in the subacute facility I volunteered at were not practicing proper infection control actions. Communication with the nurses at the facility indicated that they are knowledgeable about the most recent evidence-based infection control policies, but they did not receive periodic infection control training. The purpose of the DNP project was to fill this gap in practice by developing an evidence-based education program to increase nurses' knowledge about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infection in a subacute facility in West Central Africa. I obtained information from the literature using search engines such as CINAHL, MEDLINE, and EMBASE, as well as informal communication with hospital personnel to validate the gap in practice. I used the Walden Staff Education Manual, the ADDIE model, and CDC Basic Infection Prevention and Control guideline to develop the education program. Experts provided formative evaluation of the educational content and the pre- and posttest. They agreed that the teaching content and the test questions had content validity and usability. Increasing the nurses' knowledge about the most recent evidence-based infection control practices has the potential to decrease the rate of infection in the facility. In Section 2, I discuss the model that informed the project, the relevance to nursing practice, the local background and context, and the role of the DNP student and the project team.

8

Section 2: Background and Context

Nosocomial infections pose safety concerns for hospitalized patients in West Central Africa. The problem's magnitude is underestimated and in some cases unknown due to the complexity of the diagnosis, and surveillance activities of these infections and guiding interventions require resources and expertise (Rajakaruna et al., 2017). Nosocomial infections in these nations stem from multiresistant pathogens, which have adverse effects on many patients and their families resulting in prolonged hospital stays, illness, excess costs, potential disability, and sometimes death (Rajakaruna et al., 2017). The practice-focused question in the current project was the following: Will an education program about infection control principles increase nurses' knowledge about infection control practices needed to decrease nosocomial infections in hospitalized patients in health institutions located in West Central Africa? The purpose of the DNP project was to develop an evidence-based education program to educate nurses about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infection in a subacute facility in West Central Africa. In this section, I discuss the model that informed the project, the relevance to nursing practice, the local background and context, and the role of the DNP student and the project team.

Concepts, Models, and Theories

I used the ADDIE model as a guide to develop the program. This model was designed in 1975 for the U.S. Army by the Centre for Educational Technology at Florida State University (Kurt, 2017). This model refers to a generic process that instructional designers use to organize and streamline the course content (Fernandes et al., 2020; see

Figure 1).

Figure 1

ADDIE Model



The ADDIE model has five phases: analysis, design, development, evaluation, and implementation. The phases are defined as follows:

 The analysis phase involves clarifying the instructional problem. The instructional designer can create goals and objectives and identify the learners and the learning environment. Several questions focusing on who, what, when, how, why, and where can be used to recognize audience characteristics, behavioral outcomes, existing constraints, and course delivery options. This step involves identifying training needs and developing a plan.

- The second phase is the design stage. This stage involves making practical decisions about the learning process. Educators should consider the teaching method, course structure, assessment, and feedback when developing a course design.
- The third phase is the development stage, which involves creating the courses guided by the objectives. This process is significant for devising the course content.
- The fourth phase is the implementation stage. In this stage, the course is presented to learners. The process should entail learning outcomes, delivery methods, and testing procedures.
- 5. Finally, the evaluation phase involves getting feedback about the course. The evaluation can be either summative or formative, and it is significant in determining whether the training process was a success.

I used this framework to plan, develop, implement, and evaluate the outcome of the course as it relates to educating nurses about preventing nosocomial infections. The health belief model was the most applicable theoretical framework with high relevance to the training and inspiration of nurses to comply with evidence-based nosocomial infection prevention protocols. This is a value-expectancy theory and assumes that people's behaviors are affected mainly by the consequences of adopting new practices (Jeihooni et al., 2018). In the current project, nurses practicing in the subacute care setting were likely to comply with infection prevention standards and guidelines if they perceived a potential reduction in HAIs and the subsequent adverse outcomes. The health belief model has been implemented in previous studies to inspire nurses to embrace health education and adopt infection prevention measures to decrease the risk of nosocomial infection. For instance, Jeihooni et al. (2018) determined the consequences of education based on the health belief model in promoting nosocomial infection preventive behaviors through training interventions. This theoretical framework was influential in planning and evaluating nurse training programs in which nurses were empowered and motivated to adopt infection control and prevention practices.

Relevance to Nursing Practice

Haque et al. (2018) explained that in high-income nations, about 5% to 15% of all hospitalized patients acquired nosocomial infections; however, the prevalence of these infections in some parts of West Central Africa is greater than 40% in subacute care settings. I volunteered at a subacute ward in West Central Africa and observed that some of the nurses were not adhering to basic infection control practices. Nurses went from one room to another without sanitizing or washing their hands and at times did not change their gloves between patients. For patients and the rest of the health care system, nosocomial infections are a threat to the achievement of better health outcomes and the reduction of health care costs (Friedman, 2016). Although the adverse effects of these infections are worse in developing countries, underreporting makes it challenging to understand the magnitude and frequency of associated adverse effects. Significant costs related to nosocomial infections include increased morbidity and mortality, increased hospital expenses related to the impact of blocked beds, and financial losses in direct and indirect medical care expenses (Friedman, 2016).

Nurses' primary function is to provide quality health care services while undertaking or executing a series of nursing activities (Arison et al., 2020). However, Haque et al. (2018) stated that nosocomial infections occur at a time of patient recovery from illness. Alteration in care practice may contribute to the transmission of the microorganisms to and from patients leading to HAIs. These infections are among the leading causes of patient mortality and morbidity. Arison et al. (2020) proposed that nosocomial infection rates are an indicator of the safety and quality of nursing services. An increase in nosocomial infection translates to low-quality care attributed to ineffective practices associated with the failure to uphold evidence-based standards of practices (Arison et al., 2020).

Nurses must understand the magnitude of the problem, the importance of prevention, and measures they can take to reduce the prevalence of infection in their work setting. It is important that nurses know the methods for preventing the spread of infection, such as hand and environmental hygiene and patients' screening (Wolkewitz et al., 2019). The current educational program provided information that empowered nurses to implement evidence-based infection control practices to reduce the rates of infections in the project facility.

Local Background and Context

History of the Broader Problem in Nursing Practice

Lack of guidelines, infection control policies, and trained professions are factors that are attributed to the increased rate of infection in the subacute facility in West Central Africa (Nejad et al., 2011). I volunteered for 1 month at this subacute facility. During that time, I noticed several patients who developed a nosocomial infection during their stay at the facility. Informal conversations with nursing staff at the facility revealed their belief that there are insufficient resources, such as gloves, and low compliance with evidence-based practice infection prevention and control guidelines. Staff further identified their belief that factors related to noncompliance included being understaffed, having limited staff resources, and having limited access to infection prevention and control infrastructure (see Egbe et al., 2020). These factors make the prevention and control of infections in the facility challenging for the nursing staff. The current project contributed to filling this practice gap.

Institutional Context

Patients admitted to this health care facility had compromised health due to the lack of adherence or enforcement of the government health policies. The Ministry of Health in West Central Africa is responsible for supervising hospitals' adherence to infection control policies. However, based on the infection rate in the facility, the extent of surveillance of the hospital's adherence to the Ministry's infection control policy was not clear. Therefore, implementing infection control policies for the hospitalized patients was paramount. However, the implementation of these policies in the facility in West Africa was lacking. The nurses identified that they were not knowledgeable of the most recent evidence-based guidelines.

Definitions of Locally Used Terms or Operational Processes

Defined terms for this project included the following:

American English: The variant of the English language used mostly in the United States (Oxford Advanced American Dictionary, 2021).

Descriptive concepts: Items that are helpful to monitor the decrease and increase in nosocomial infections (Department of Health, n.d.).

Infection control: A practical, evidence-based approach preventing patients and health workers from being harmed by avoidable infections (World Health Organization, 2021).

Hospital-acquired infections (HAIs): Health care facility-acquired infections that are not present or incubating at the time of admission to a hospital (Monegro et al., 2020).

Incidence: The measure of disease that determines a person's probability of being diagnosed with a disease (Department of Health, n.d.).

Mortality: The number of deaths due to a disease divided by the total population (Department of Health, n.d.).

Nosocomial infections: Infections occurring during the process of care when the patient is in the hospital or any other health care facility (Iliyasu et al. 2016). These infections do not incubate or occur at the time of admission; instead, they are acquired when the patient is in the health care setting and manifest either during the period of admission or after discharge. Haque et al. (2018) noted that these infections appear in the first 48 hours later after the admission of a patient or within the first month of a hospital discharge after receiving health care.

Pidgin English: A language containing lexical and other features from two or more languages, characteristically with simplified grammar and a smaller vocabulary than the languages from which it is derived. Pidgin English is used for communication between people not having a common language (Oxford Advanced American Dictionary, 2021).

Prevalence: A measure of disease used to determine the likelihood of having a disease (Department of Health, n.d.).

West Africa: The region that stretches from the westernmost point of Africa, across the equator, and partly along the Atlantic Ocean (World Bank, 2020).

Role of the DNP Student

In this DNP project, I functioned as a leader, educator, resource person, and evaluator. These roles aligned with the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) Essential II, Organizational and Systems Leadership for Quality Improvement and Systems Thinking. I was actively engaged in planning the content to inform nurses about the most recent evidence-based infection control policies. Nursing leadership is about influence (Al-Dossary, 2017). Therefore, focusing on nurses and seeking to influence them demonstrated my leadership role. The AACN (2006) indicated that nurses should develop their leadership roles through planning and influencing. My organizing content included critical thinking principles related to this AACN requirement. In addition, I educated nurses with information that had the potential to empower them to implement evidence-based infection control practices. The AACN supported the idea of continued education through self-development. My educator, research, and critical thinking skills in developing and delivering the content related to AACN requirements. Finally, I evaluated nursing activities. According to the AACN, nurses should evaluate their progress and seek continuous improvement to enhance health care delivery. My summative and formative evaluation activities were related to the AACN evaluator roles.

This topic was personal to me because I had read many reports about insufficiencies in achieving positive patient care outcomes in health care facilities in West Central Africa. Advanced practice nurses have advanced skills and should coach and mentor other nurses to deliver better care (AACN, 2006). I sought to use my skills to teach other nurses to improve nursing care by preventing infections. The project was about educating nurses and related to my professional mandate.

Motivation and Perspectives

My motivation for the project was to reduce the nosocomial infection rates in West Central Africa. Mbim et al. (2016) indicated that the current prevalence of nosocomial infection in sub-Saharan Africa was 35.5%. Having experienced the impact of nosocomial infections within this community, I was inspired to find data to justify solutions that could be implemented. This led me to realize my professional mandate to mentor nurses and to improve their practice as it related to preventing nosocomial infections in the facility in West Central Africa. It was challenging to reduce the prevalence due to the underresourced settings and lack of evidence-base practice knowledge and guidelines in place. However, with evidence-based education and administration involvement, I was confident it could be achieved. My goal for pursuing this doctoral project was to make a noteworthy contribution to an area with scarce data and resources by identifying feasible solutions to a contemporary problem.

Potential Biases

I had potential bias in selecting the facility where I implemented my project. The facility I selected was easily accessible to me. I expected my learners to grasp the content faster because I simplified it. However, while reading a study by Almaiah et al. (2020), I realized that learners have different learning paces. I realized that my expectation that my learners would easily understand all that I teach was not realistic; because of my biased expectations, I realized that some nurses may be left behind. For this reason, I took time after every subtopic to obtain feedback from the participants about their understanding of the information presented. This helped me to identify learners who may have required additional reinforcement of the information and clarification before proceeding.

Role of the Project Team

The administrator of the facility assigned three nurses who work in the facility in administrative and clinical roles and have the expertise to review the educational information I develop and provide feedback relating to the content validity and usability of the objectives, PowerPoint presentation, and the questions. I made revisions based on the experts' recommendations.

Summary

The West-Central Africa region experiences numerous deficits within their healthcare facilities relating to infection control. There is a lack of training and consistent educational programs to prevent nosocomial infections and understand principals of hand hygiene precautions. This gap delays early intervention due to the lack of adherence to safety measures and hand washing practices among nurses. Consequently, a surge in cases of nosocomial infections is experienced in this region of the world.

Nosocomial infection rates are a threat to patient safety, but they are preventable with implementation of evidence-based infection control policies and procedures. However, not all nurses in the local facility in West Africa are equipped with information on preventing infections. For this reason, the project was developed to educate nurses in the West Central Africa on preventing nosocomial infections. The geographical area was selected due to the high prevalence of the infections. My role in the project was to be actively engaged in the planning, execution of the program, and evaluation of the achievement of the learning outcomes. Overall, the project allowed me to implement my leadership, educator, and evaluator roles, in addition to being a resource person. Educating the nurses on evidence-based infection control practices, have the potential to empower them to implement strategies to decrease the rates of nosocomial infections within the hospital. In section 3, I discuss the practice-focused question, sources of evidence, and analysis and synthesis.

Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

Nosocomial infections are an issue of concern in many health facilities, especially in under resourced settings. Nouetchognou et al. (2016) stated that the rate of infection in West Central Africa in 2010 was 20.74%. While volunteering to deliver health services in facilities in West Central Africa, I noticed the increased rate of nosocomial infections compared to most facilities I had worked for in the United States. Though nurses provided good care, the nosocomial infection rates were high due to nurses' lack of current evidence-based infection control measures and adequate resources. In some cases, the nurses were not following basic hand hygiene, not using gloves, and not changing gloves after each patient care. Most of the nurses could not identify where to access evidence-based guidelines to help them with the prevention of infections.

According to Haque et al. (2018), nosocomial infections usually increase the length of stay and care costs. Many patients stayed in the project health facility longer than expected due to having acquired nosocomial infections. Nurses were better positioned to prevent these infections because they could initiate and sustain preventive measures. However, they could only achieve this goal if they understood guidelines and preventive measures. I realized that nurses in that subacute hospital in West Central Africa were unaware of evidence-based nosocomial infection prevention and control guideline practices. I concluded that the nurses should be educated regarding the best practices to prevent infections so that they could implement these measures in practice. This doctoral project was conducted to fill this gap. The purpose of the DNP project was to develop an evidence-based education program to educate nurses about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infection in the subacute facility in West Africa.

Practice-Focused Question

The local problem in West Central Africa was the increased rate of nosocomial infections. According to Sahiledengle et al. (2020), some health facilities in West Africa prevent infections better than others; overall, the infection prevalence ranges from 2.5% to 14.8%. It was crucial to address this problem due to the increased risk for patients in subacute areas of the hospital who were undergoing invasive procedures that predisposed them to infections. Sahiledengle et al. argued that surgical setting prevalence ranges from 5.7% to 45.8%, especially in Ethiopia and Nigeria. The gap in practice was nurses' lack of knowledge, policies, and procedures to help them initiate and sustain infection prevention practices. Inadequate resources, such as gloves and masks, within health care settings exacerbated the problem. Many nurses needed to understand and adopt current infection prevention strategies to reduce infection rates.

The purpose of this DNP project was to develop an evidence-based education program to educate nurses about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infections in a subacute facility in West Central Africa. It was imperative that nurses in this subacute facility in West Africa have the knowledge and motivation to adopt current infection prevention strategies to reduce infection rates. The following practice-focused question guided this project: Will an education program about infection control principles increase nurses' knowledge about infection control practices needed to decrease nosocomial infections in hospitalized patients in health institutions located in West Central Africa?

Operational Definitions

Descriptive concepts were useful to monitor the decrease and increase in nosocomial infections. The following operational definitions were used in this project:

Incidence: A measure of disease that determines a person's probability of being diagnosed with a disease (Department of Health, n.d.).

Mortality: The number of deaths due to a disease divided by the total population (Department of Health, n.d.).

Prevalence: A measure of disease used to determine the likelihood of having a disease (Department of Health, n.d.).

Sources of Evidence

The CDC Basic Infection Prevention and Control guidelines were used to design an evidence-based educational program that provided nurses with improved knowledge on preventing nosocomial infections. Evidence was retrieved from PubMed, MEDLINE, and CINAHL. I gathered peer-reviewed articles about how nurses' knowledge on nosocomial practices affects nosocomial infection rates. Confirmatory evidence was retrieved from the Cochrane Library using literature from 2016 to 2021. The key search terms included *knowledge, healthcare workers, hospital acquired infections, infection control, intensive care unit*, and *practice*.

My population was the nurses working in the subacute ward at the hospital. I conducted informal interviews with the nurses working in the subacute setting in the

hospital to substantiate their infection control practices. I developed the infection control education program using the ADDIE guideline. The nurses completed a pretest before the presentation to identify their knowledge before participating in the education program. The nurses completed a posttest after participating in the program to determine whether there was an increase in their knowledge relating to infection control from the presentation. I calculated the difference in the mean score between the tests to determine whether there was an increase in the nurses' knowledge about evidence-based strategies to prevent nosocomial infections after participating in the program.

Evidence Generated for the Doctoral Project

Participants

This project included 40 nurses who worked in the subacute medical surgical ward in the facility. Though the nurses were from the subacute medical surgical ward, the nurses were selected from the ward at random to reduce the possibility of biased selection. Nurses were my participants because they directly impacted the health of patients. Nurses can significantly influence the nosocomial infection rates in hospitals (Haque et al., 2018). Nurses provide care to patients more than other health care professionals. Nurses also interact with patients and implement patient-centered activities more than other health care providers. Therefore, nurses were the best group of professionals to participate in and benefit from this project.

Procedures

I discussed the plans to develop the program and the goals with the facility administrator who provided input. The administrator was supportive of my developing and presenting this program to the staff. The administrator and the nursing staff identified the need to decrease the nosocomial rate in the facility. The administrator agreed to have flyers (see Appendix A) posted around the nursing stations to inform the nurses of the topic, date, and time of the presentation. The administrator also agreed to allow the nurses time to attend the educational presentations. In addition, the administrator assigned three nurses who work in the facility in administrative and clinical roles to review the educational information I developed and provide feedback to help in developing the program. The administrator provided me with a letter of commitment for me to present the program to the nurses in the facility as required by Walden IRB.

After approval of Walden University IRB 05-04-22-0444852, I did the following:

- I developed the education program guided by the CDC infection control guidelines using a PowerPoint presentation and the pre- and posttests (see Appendix B and C).
- 2. I present the PowerPoint presentation to the expert panel to provide formative evaluation of the validity and usability of the content using questions from the AGREE II Instrument (see Appendix D).
- 3. I revised the content based on the experts' recommendations.
- 4. I presented the revised education program to the experts to confirm the content and ensure its usability.
- After receiving confirmation from the expert panel, I presented the PowerPoint presentation to the staff. At each session, I informed the participants of the following:

- the purpose of the program and who could participate,
- voluntary participation,
- completion of a pretest prior to the presentation and a posttest after the presentation in which the content would be the same,
- completion of the pretest providing consent to participate in the program,
- presentation length of approximately 30 minutes, and
- completion of an evaluation of the program at the end of the program (see Appendix E).

Learning Objectives

After completion of this program, the nurses would be able to do the following:

- identify the CDC definition of nosocomial infection
- identify pathogens associated with nosocomial infection.
- discuss conditions that increase the risk of nosocomial infection
- discuss groups that are susceptible to acquiring nosocomial infection
- identify sources of nosocomial infection and how they contribute to acquiring nosocomial infection
- discuss risky behaviors of individuals or conditions that increase the risk of acquiring nosocomial infection
- identify strategies that can be used to prevent nosocomial infection during admission to the hospital and in the hospital

Protections

The project was approved by Walden University IRB before implementation. The nurses were informed that by completing the pretest they would be providing consent to participate in the program. Their names would not appear on the tests or any data collected. Their names and the name of the organization would not appear on any report of the project. I kept all data collected during the project in my password-protected computer. I alone had the password. The data would be kept for 5 years as required by Walden University IRB.

Analysis and Synthesis

I analyzed the results of the questionnaires using descriptive analysis and a *t* test. The data from the questionnaires were placed in an Excel spreadsheet. I used the Excel statistical data analysis program to determine the mean difference between the pre- and posttest results. The results allowed me to assess whether the nurses' knowledge on nosocomial infection prevention measures had increased.

Summary

The adverse outcomes associated with nosocomial infections necessitated preventing the infections and improving patient outcomes. Patients experienced increased lengths of stay and higher health care costs due to this problem. Nurses could prevent these infections in clinical settings. However, in a subacute ward in West Central Africa, nurses experienced challenges preventing the infections due to lack of knowledge of basic hand hygiene such as hand washing, use of gloves, and changing of gloves from one patient to another. Nurses also had inadequate access to evidence-based guidelines. Permission was obtained from the facility administrator to implement the education program to the nurses. The administrator identified key experts that provided formative evaluation to determine the congruence among the objectives, PowerPoint presentation, and pre and posttest questions. The education session would be presented over 30 minutes, and the participants would complete a pre- and posttest and a course evaluation. I adhered to Walden University IRB ethical guidelines when administrating the program. I used descriptive statistics with Microsoft's statistical analysis program to determine the level of change in the nurses' knowledge after participating in the program. In Section 4, I discuss the findings and implications, recommendations, contribution of the doctoral project, and the strengths and limitations of the project.

Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

Neglecting basic infection control practices in health care settings can lead to the spread of nosocomial infections. Nosocomial infections are present many health care environments around the world. Nosocomial infections have been reported in developing countries with a percentage range of 25% (Nouetchognou et al., 2016). In West Central Africa, the increased infection rates were attributed to insufficient resources and inadequate knowledge of infection control practices by the hospital staff (Nouetchognou et al., 2016). A national policy on surveillance, prevention, and management of nosocomial infections had not been adopted within the project site, a West Central African country. Inadequate compliance of practitioners with infection prevention measures had increased the risk of infections (see Revelas, 2012).

Resources to guide the nurses to identify and respond to infections were not available in this target facility. Resources included infection prevention committees, continuing education, and availability of infection prevention and control guidelines. Consequently, these nurses lacked information on the existence of these opportunities, which limited the likelihood of their adhering to infection control practices. Many nurses failed to adhere to practice guidelines and protocols on nosocomial infection prevention and control due to lack of education. Practitioners are best suited to recognize the risks of infections and implement practices to prevent them. According to Gruda and Sopjani (2017), many practitioners do not understand or implement infection prevention measures as required. Effective infection prevention and control practices were needed in the West Central Africa region. The purpose of this DNP project was to develop an evidence-based education program to educate nurses about infection control practices they could implement to decrease the incidence of nosocomial infection in a subacute facility in West Central Africa. The practice-focused question was the following: Will an education program about infection control principles increase nurses' knowledge about infection control practices needed to decrease nosocomial infections in hospitalized patients in health institutions located in West Central Africa? Providing nurses with current evidence-based infection control information had the potential to decrease the infection rate in this facility and increase the quality of care provided to the patients.

Findings and Implications

Sources of Evidence

I discussed the purpose of the project with the director of the hospital in West Central Africa during one of my visits to the hospital. The director agreed that the nurses in the facility needed to be educated regarding current evidence-based information about infection control. The director agreed to assist in the recruitment of the nurses to participate in the project. I provided the director with a recruitment flyer to circulate among the nurses (see Appendix A). I presented the course information to three physicians at the facility who served as expert reviewers to determine the program's content validity and usability. The mean rating scale for the experts was 4.9 with a confidence interval of 81% (*strongly agree*) and 19% (*agree*; see Appendix D). The experts agreed that the teaching program had content validity and usability. They offered no additional comments. While at the facility, I met with nurses who were interested in learning more about the project. I identified the purpose of the project, what nurses were required to do, and that there would be no financial benefits for participating in the project. However, by participating in the project, nurses would receive information to increase their knowledge about the most current evidence-based infection control practices. Nurses would also be informed that the information they provided would be kept confidential and would be known only to the facility administrator and me. I informed nurses that their names would not appear on the pre- or posttest and that their answers and scores on the test would be anonymous. Only the average test scores of the group would be published. I informed nurses that their names or the name of the facility would not appear in any publication about the results. I informed nurses that if they were interested in participating in the education project, they would need to read and sign the consent form that states they are participating under their own will with no outside coercion.

Forty nurses were recruited from the West Central Africa facility through the hospital. Participants signed the consent form and completed the pretest prior to participating in the presentation, posttest, and course evaluation after the posttest (see Appendix C, and E). The consent form and pretest were presented to the nurses on site and collected after completion by the hospital director before I presented the educational information via Zoom to the group. I answered any questions during and after the presentation prior to participants completing the posttest. The hospital director presented and collected the completed posttests and course evaluations from the group after the presentation and scanned and emailed both documents to me. I analyzed the pre-and posttest results using descriptive statistics and a *t* test.

Findings

Of the 40 nurses who completed the study, 36 (90%) were women and 4 (10%) were men. The nurses' knowledge about infection control practices increased as indicated in the questions answered correctly for the pretest and posttest (see Table 1).

Table 1

Question	Pretest	Posttest	
Hospital acquired infection is also known as	5	37	
What is the CDC definition of nosocomial infections?	7	35	
What is a common characteristic of nosocomial illnesses?	7	37	
Factors influencing the nosocomial infection are	7	38	
The most likely agents to cause nosocomial infections include?	5	38	
The priority option for the nurse to prevent the spread of nosocomial infection in hospitalized patients is to	8	36	
Which list presents popular ailments that are acquired in health centers?	5	38	
Chlorhexidine is an agent that is	5	35	
What is the most appropriate finding that indicates the importance of the need to educate health care workers?	2	38	
Effective hand washing requires that you wash your hands for at least	12	40	
What are the examples of hospital acquired infection	8	38	
Contaminated instruments, wards, beds, hospital staffs, are considered a	2 s	37	
All of the following individuals are susceptible to nosocomial infection except	7	40	

Pre- and Posttest Results for Each Question

In addition, results indicated the difference between the pretest and posttest mean score increased significantly after participation in the educational presentation (see Table 2).

Table 2

T Statistics Pretest and Posttest

Test type	Mean	Standard deviation	<i>p</i> value
Pretest	1.62	6.55	7.7404E-26
Posttest	11.95	3.84	

Note. p < 0.05, pretest (N = 40), posttest (N = 40).

Table 2 revealed a *p* value of 7.7404E-26, which was less than.05. This DNP project that provided health education about infection control practices to nurses showed significant results related to an increase in nurses' knowledge and the subsequent desire and competence to uphold evidence-based infection prevention practices. A course evaluation consisting of five questionnaires was completed by all 40 participants (see Appendix E). The mean score for the questions in the course evaluation was 4.95. Participants agreed that the course provided the information they needed to implement infection control practices.

Unanticipated Events

There were some technical difficulties in the beginning of the project. I had to wait for about 1 week to get stable electricity, and the electricity still went out during the beginning of the presentation. Eventually, the hospital used a generator and proceeded with the presentation. After I set up the PowerPoint, the individuals at the site had difficulty with the media player during the slide show. One of my team members at the site helped me navigate the PowerPoint; changing some settings in their computer and reopening the window resolved the issue. The presentation was virtual, and my image was projected next to the PowerPoint through Zoom. I was unable to go to the location in person due to a transportation error. My flight was cancelled midway, stranding me in another state for a few days; my bags were also stuck in another country. My family advised me not to come due to the ongoing civil war; my family did not want another attempted kidnapping (I was almost kidnapped for ransom the last time I went to the country). However, these unexpected events did not impact the validity and reliability of the results.

Implications

The results revealed that many of the practicing nurses lacked knowledge of the most effective evidence-based practices for the prevention of HAIs in this health care setting. Nurses had limited knowledge of infection prevention and control practices prior to participating in the program, which could have led to the low compliance rates with evidence-based infection prevention and control protocols. During a question-and-answer session after the presentation, most participants thought nosocomial infection was prevalent only in North America and European countries. One of the nurses raised their hand and stated "I thought only countries like America and those in Europe dealt with that." Additionally, many nurses were not taught current evidence-based infection

such as recognition of signs and symptoms of infection. As a result, it was appropriate for me to provide nursing education on how to prevent these infections.

Recommendations

It is important that nurses be educated on infection prevention factors including hand hygiene, safe infection practices, wearing of personal protective equipment, environmental hygiene, health care waste disposal, and disinfection or sterilization of medical equipment. This education should focus on empowering nurses, especially those with little experience. For example, health care institutions should make it a policy to educate newly recruited nurses on infection prevention and control during the orientation phase of recruitment. Although some health care facilities have infection prevention guidelines and committees, many providers are unaware of these critical resources. Health care facilities should ensure nurses are familiar with the availability of these resources. Compliance with all measures recommended in this DNP project would result in an empowered nursing workforce that adheres to infection prevention guidelines. The potential for these infections may decrease substantially leading to better health outcomes and quality of life for hospitalized patients.

Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team

The doctoral project team, which included four doctors, four nurses, one pharmacists, one IT technicians, and two hospital administrators, assisted me in ensuring that as many nurses as possible participated in the presentation. The project team helped me pass out the pre- and posttest and collect the completed tests. One of my team members was in charge of the slide show and navigating the slides while I gave the presentation. The doctors and administrators whom I communicated with about giving the presentation expressed their gratitude for the time given to educate their nurses. There was an emphasis on the project team using the presentation to educate incoming nurses and existing nurses.

Strengths and Limitations of the Project

The PowerPoint presentation allowed me to maintain the participants' attention by using visual and verbal techniques. The pacing of the presentation provided the participants with enough time to understand what was on each slide. The slides were not too wordy so participants could focus on what I had to say rather than trying to read the slides. There were some technical difficulties at the beginning, but after they were sorted out there were no issues during the presentation. The presentation was virtual. My image was projected next to the PowerPoint through Zoom. I was unable to go to the location in person because flights were cancelled. The United States had designated this area of West Central Africa as a red zone because of civil unrest.

Section 5: Dissemination Plan

Dissemination has broad goals relating to evidence and information: (a) to increase the reach to a variety of audiences, (b) to increase nurses' and practitioners' motivation to use and apply the information, and (c) to increase nurses' and health care practitioners' ability to use and apply evidence. The key audiences for this project were nurses and hospital administrators. The overall goal was to equip nurses with knowledge regarding nosocomial infections so they could implement current evidence-based infection control practices that had the potential to reduce the risk of nosocomial infections.

I employed several methods of dissemination. First, I organized a seminar to present the information through PowerPoint to the nurses in the subacute area of the hospital. This served as an educational session to reach out to a larger audience that included the heads of departments of the hospitals and the nurses. Second, I recorded a webinar that would be stored on the local computer server of the hospital. The recorded webinar would serve as a learning resource that would be readily available and accessible for the nurses at any time and at any location of the hospital where there was access to a computer. The webinar would provide a tool for continuous learning and a refresher to foster compliance with the recommendations in the project. Third, I developed a poster for handwashing procedures that would be placed in strategic locations in the hospital where it would be clearly visible to nurses, patients, and visitors.

Analysis of Self

As a nurse practitioner, I am involved in continuous professional development through reading scientific journals and attending seminars and webinars. These scholarly activities have equipped me with valuable knowledge and skills that have deepened my understanding of many aspects related to disease prevention and the education of health care professionals. As a practitioner, I am involved in patient care management and participate in raising awareness of healthy lifestyles and disease prevention by identifying risk factors and developing methods to mitigate the risks. I play a role in educating patients, their family members, and the community, and I advocate for the best interest of the patients for improved and affordable health care services.

In my role as a project manager, I have been able to identify issues regarding HAIs in a hospital in West Central Africa. I developed an education program and collaborated with the administration of the hospital to implement the project to address these issues and come up with recommendations. I performed the role of a project manager as an individual who had general responsibilities for the successful and effective initiation, planning, design, and execution of a project (see Alexander, 2021). Furthermore, I have been engaging in the observation and monitoring of disease occurrence and held the responsibility for the project scope, resources, budget, and outcomes. I was responsible for the current project, including its implementation and influence in the West Central African community. These roles were directly related to the project experience, the current situation in African health care facilities, and my longterm professional goals. I am convinced that the project will be successfully applied in practice, thereby helping health care facilities in West Central Africa reduce the occurrence of nosocomial infection.

This project was exciting to me. It allowed for easy interaction with the health care workers and getting to know what affects them. The questionnaires revealed that nurses were not fully aware of the risks they faced each day in their places of work. There were limited resources to reach more hospitals, but the hospital that was chosen acted as a representation of the several hospitals that face the same issues. Coming up with an appropriate questionnaire made it easy for me to obtain the data from the participants. My team was accommodating in offering support. I worked with them throughout the project preparation and execution. This project enhanced my communication, managerial skills, collaboration, and professional skills.

Summary

This project addressed the issues of nosocomial infections and provided a tool kit for nurses to mitigate the risk and incidence of nosocomial infections. The primary goal of this project was to educate nurses about nosocomial infections and provide them with the skills to identify the risk factors for nosocomial infection and implement preventive measures to reduce these risks. This project will be made available to the targeted stakeholders in different formats to enhance the adoption and implementation of the recommendations.

The project was valuable and needed because the issue of nosocomial infections in West Central African health care facilities required an urgent solution due to the scope of the problem and its spread. The infection prevention measures increased nurses' awareness of strategies they could implement to improve the quality of care they provide to decrease nosocomial infection and increase the health of the local population. This project provided an evidence-based education program to improve infection control practices that have the potential to decrease nosocomial infection incidence in subacute health care facilities in West Central Africa.

References

- Al-Dossary, R. N. (2017). Leadership in nursing. Contemporary Leadership Challenges, 251. https://doi.org/10.5772/65308
- Almaiah, M. A., Al-Khasawneh, A., & Althunibat, A. (2020). Exploring the critical challenges and factors influencing the E-learning system usage during COVID-19 pandemic. *Education and Information Technologies*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10219-y
- Alrubaiee, G., Baharom, A., Shahar, H. K., Daud, S. M., & Basaleem, H. O. (2017).
 Knowledge and practices of nurses regarding nosocomial infection control measures in private hospitals in Sana'a City, Yemen. *Safety in Health*, 3(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40886-017-0067-4
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2006, October). *The essentials of doctoral* education for advanced nursing practice.

https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/Publications/DNPEssentials.pdf

- Arison, E., Popoola, R.O., Olajide, T.E., & Adeola, O.E. (2020). *Outcome Of Nursing Intervention On Knowledge And Skill Of Infection Control Among Nurses* In Ekiti State University Teaching Hospital Ado-Ekiti, Ekiti State. <u>https://10.9790/1959-0903042128</u>
- Alexander, M. (2021). What is a project manager? *The lead role for project success. CIO.* <u>https://www.cio.com/article/230682/what-is-a-project-manager-the-lead-role-for-project-success.html</u>

- Bouza, E., Alonso, S., Asensio, A., De Juan, G., Lucio, C. G., Larrosa, C., López-Iglesias, J., Muñoz, P., Sierra, R., Perianes, J., Luis De la Serna, J., Palomo, E., & Gracia D. (2019). Information on nosocomial infections in the mainstream media: An opinion document. *Revista Española de Quimioterapia*, *32*(2), 165–177. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6441986/</u>
- Burnett, E. (2018). Effective infection prevention and control: The nurse's role. *Nursing Standard (2014+)*, *33*(4), 68. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.2018.e11171</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, October 15). *Global handwashing day*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/global-handwashing-day.html</u>

Department of Health. (n.d.). Basic Statistics: About Incidence, Prevalence, Morbidity, and Mortality - Statistics Teaching Tools https://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/chronic/basicstat.htm

- Faraji, R., Mirzaei, S., Eftekhari, A., Lahiji, A. P., Bamakan, M. H. M., & Rad, H. K. (2016). A study of nurses' observance rate of hygienic principles and nosocomial infections control. International Journal of Research in Medical Sciences, 4(4), 1163–1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.18203/2320-6012.ijrms20160802</u>
- Fernandes, R., de Oliveira Lima, J. T., da Silva, B. H., Sales, M., & de Orange, F. A. (2020). Development, implementation and evaluation of a management specialization course in oncology using blended learning. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-1957-4

- Friedman, C. (2016). The costs of healthcare-associated infections: IFIC Basic concepts of infection control (3rd ed.) <u>http://theific.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2016/04/CostsCh29.pdf
- Gaikwad, U. N., Basak, S., Kulkarni, P., Sande, S., Cahavan, S., Mudey, G., Tankhiwale, N. S., Fule, R. P., & Gaikwad, N. R. (2018). Educational intervention to foster best infection control practices among nursing staff. *International Journal of Infection*, 5(3). Article e81531. <u>https://doi.org/10.5812/iji.81531</u>
- Gruda, A., & Sopjani, I. (2017). The knowledge, attitudes and practices of nurses toward management of hospital-acquired infections in the University Clinical Center of Kosovo. *Materia Socio Medica*, 29(2), 84-

87.<u>https://doi:10.5455/msm.2017.29.84-87</u>

- Haque, M., Sartelli, M., McKimm, J., & Abu Bakar, M. (2018). Health care-associated infections - An overview. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 11, 2321–2333. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S177247</u>
- Iliyasu, G., Dayyab, F. M., Habib, Z. G., Tiamiyu, A. B., Abubakar, S., Mijinyawa, M. S., & Habib, A. G. (2016). Knowledge and practices of infection control among healthcare workers in a Tertiary Referral Center in North-Western Nigeria. *Annals of African Medicine*, 15(1), 34-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1596-</u>3519.161724
- Infectious Disease Advisor. (n.d.). *Diffusion of innovation theory in hospital epidemiology and infection control*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.infectiousdiseaseadvisor.com/home/decision-support-in-</u>

medicine/hospital-infection-control/diffusion-of-innovation-theory-in-hospitalepidemiology-and-infection-control/

- Infectious Disease Advisor. (n.d.). *Diffusion of innovation theory in hospital epidemiology and infection control*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.infectiousdiseaseadvisor.com/home/decision-support-in-</u> <u>medicine/hospital-infection-control/diffusion-of-innovation-theory-in-hospital-</u> <u>epidemiology-and-infection-control/</u>
- Jeihooni, A. K., Kashfi, S. H., Bahmandost, M., & Harsini, P. A. (2018). Promoting preventive behaviors of nosocomial infections in nurses: The effect of an educational program based on health belief model. *Investigacion y Educacion En Enfermeria*, 36(1), e09. <u>https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.iee.v36n1e09</u>
- Jenkins, D. R. (2017). Nosocomial infections and infection control. *Medicine*, 45(10), 629-633. Retrieved from <u>https://africa-health.com/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2018/04/AH-Apr18-lo-res-24-noscomial.pdf

- Khan, H. A., Ahmad, A., & Mehboob, R. (2015). Nosocomial Infections and Their Control Strategies. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 5(7), 509-514.
- Khan, H. A., Baig, F. K., & Mehboob, R. (2017). Nosocomial Infections: Epidemiology, Prevention, Control and Surveillance. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 7(5), 478-482.
- Kurt, Serhat. "ADDIE Model: Instructional Design," in *Educational Technology*, August 29, 2017. Retrieved from https://educationaltechnology.net/the-addie-model-instructional-design

- Mbim, E. N., Mboto, C. I., & Agbo, B. E. (2016). A review of nosocomial infections in sub-Saharan Africa. *Microbiology Research Journal International*, 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.9734/BMRJ/2016/25895</u>
- Monegro AF, Muppidi V, Regunath H. Hospital Acquired Infections. [Updated 2020 Sep
 3]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. *Treasure Island (FL)*: StatPearls Publishing; 2021
 Jan-. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441857/</u>
- Nejad, S., Allegranzi, B., Syed, S., Ellis, B. & Pittet, D. (2011). Health-care-associated infection in Africa: A systematic review. *World Health Organization*, 8 (10) 701-776. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/89/10/11-088179/en/
- Nouetchognou, J. S., Ateudjieu, J., Jemea, B., Mesumbe, E. N., & Mbanya, D. (2016).
 Surveillance of nosocomial infections in the Yaounde University Teaching
 Hospital, West-Central Africa. *BMC Research Notes*, 9(1). doi:10.1186/s13104-016-2310-1
- Oxford Advanced American Dictionary (2021). *American-english noun definition, pictures, pronunciation and usage notes.* <u>https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/us/definition/american_english/american_english</u>
- Peter, D., Meng, M., Kugler, C., & Mattner, F. (2018). Strategies to promote infection prevention and control in subacute care hospitals with the help of infection control link nurses: A systematic literature review. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 46(2), 207-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.07.031</u>

- Rajakaruna, S.J., Liu, WB., Ding, Y. & Cao, G. (2017). Strategy and technology to prevent hospital-acquired infections: Lessons from SARS, Ebola, and MERS in Asia and West Africa. *Military Medical Res*earch, 4, 32.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-017-0142-5</u>
- Reed, D., & Kemmerly, S. A. (2009). Infection control and prevention: a review of hospital-acquired infections and the economic implications. The Ochsner journal, 9(1), 27–31.
- Reddy, S. C., Valderrama, A. L., & Kuhar, D. T. (2019). Improving the use of personal protective equipment: Applying lessons learned. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 69(3), S165–S170. doi:10.1093/cid/ciz619
- Revelas A. (2012). Healthcare associated infections: A public health problem. Nigerian medical journal : journal of the Nigeria Medical Association, 53(2), 59–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0300-1652.103543</u>
- Sahiledengle, B., Seyoum, F., Abebe, D., Geleta, E. N., Negash, G., Kalu, A.,
 Woldeyohannes, D., Tekalegn, Y., Zenbaba, D., & Edward Quisido, B. J. (2020).
 Incidence and risk factors for hospital-acquired infection among paediatric
 patients in a teaching hospital: A prospective study in southeast Ethiopia. *BMJ Open*, 10(12), e037997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-037997</u>
- Sikora A, Zahra F. Nosocomial Infections. [Updated 2021 Feb 10]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK559312/</u>

- World Health Organization. (2021). Infection prevention and control global. World Health Organization. Retrieved September 13, 2021, from https://www.who.int/health-topics/infection-prevention-and-control#tab=tab_1
- Wolkewitz, M., Schumacher, M., Rücker, G., Harbarth, S., & Beyersmann, J. (2019).
 Estimands to quantify prolonged hospital stay associated with nosocomial infections. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 19(1). doi:10.1186/s12874-019-0752-6

Appendix A: Invitation Flyer



Appendix B: PowerPoint Presentation





Keterences	
in the second second second second second second second	Ola
Asfaw, N. (2021). Knowledge and practice of nurses towards prevention of hospital acquired infections and its associated factors. International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences, 15. https://doi.org/no.udof.jijans.2021.00333	
Ji, H., Liu, L., Huang, T., & Zhu, Y. (2020). Nosocomial infections in psychiatric hospitals during the COVID-19 outbreak. The European Journal of psychiatry, 34(3), 177-179. https://dx.doi.org/no.rdf&JE.jepsy.2020.04.001	Pan
Khan, H. A., Baig, F. K., & Mehboob, R. (2017). Nosocomial infections: Epidemiology, prevention, control and surveillance. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 7(5), 478-482. https://doi.org/10.016/j.apitb.2017.0.019	, Sch
Mbim, E.N., Mboto, C.I. & Agbo, B.E. (2016). A Review of nosocomial infections in sub- Saharan Africa. British Microbiology Research Journal, 15(1), 1-11. DOI: to 0714/JMM Under Sec.	
10-9/34/DMIND/2010/23095	

de, M. & Ifeoluwa, A. (2021). Knowledge and preventive practices of socomial infections among health workers in two selected tertiary spitals in Ogun State. International Journal of Caring Sciences, 14(1), 174 rican Health Organization (PAHO). (2018). Prevention and control o ncare- associated infections. Basic Recommendations. Washington. D.C. erbaum, M., Kösters, K., Mürbeth, R. E., Ngoa, U. A., Kremsner, P. G., Lell, S., & Alah, A. (2014). Incidence, pathogens and resistance patterns of ossocomial infections at a rural hospital in Gabon. BMC infectious Bisoasce, 1(4), 1-8. Ittusylum-infectidib.biomed.central.com/articles/10.086/14/7.3334-14-124

- azan, S., Albu, S., Toth, R., Grigorescu, B., Rachita, A. & Moldovan, I. (2020). Healthcare associated infections A new pathology in medical practice? International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(766), 1+3. Goiso.3390i[erph7p:30;60 erwitz, M., Schumeter, M., Ricker, C., Harbarth, S., & Beyersmann, J. (202). Estimands to quantify prolonged hospital stay associated with nosconnial infections. BMC media Ireasci net methodog(1); 16(), 16.
- Interpretation of the second secon

50

Appendix C: Pre- and Posttest

Nurses Education: Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West-Central Africa.

Nurse Survey

Frida Ashu

Doctor of Nursing Practice: NURS 8701

Walden University

This test is designed to test your knowledge about prevention of nosocomial infections. The answers you provide are confidential. Do not write your name on the questionnaire. Please circle the letter you believe best answers the question. Answer to the best of your ability.

- 1. Hospital acquired infection is also known as
 - a. Immunocompromised infection
 - b. Nosocomial infection
 - c. Nosocomial infection
 - d. Environmental infection
- 2. What is the CDC definition of nosocomial infections?
 - a. They are illnesses that are contracted during a stay at the hospital. They are associated with an organism that is a strain of infectious agent.
 - b. They are illnesses that occurs outside the hospital.

- c. They are infectious agents diagnosed more than 48hrs without evidence of the pathogen already in the incubation phase.
- d. They are defined as illnesses acquired from environmental contaminations.
- 3. What is a common characteristic of nosocomial illnesses?
 - a. They tend to show resistance to antibiotics.
 - b. Disappearance of original signs of symptoms for diseases.
 - c. Loss of body mass.
 - d. Elevated temperature.
- 4. Factors influencing the nosocomial infection are:
 - a. Patient susceptibility
 - b. Microbial agent
 - c. Environment factors
 - d. All the above
- 5. The most likely agents to cause nosocomial infections include?
 - a. Staphylococcus, pseudomonas, and E.coli
 - b. Staphylococcus, pseudomonas, and marek's disease
 - c. Streptococcus, E-coli bacteria, Pseudomonas
 - d. Covid-19, pseudomonas, and parvovirus

- 6. The priority option for the nurse to prevent the spread of NI in hospitalized patients is to:
 - a. Prevent patients from leaving the room.
 - b. Wear gloves only
 - c. Wearing both gloves and other protective gears.
 - d. washing hands before and after providing care
- 7. Which list presents popular ailments that are acquired in health centers?
 - a. Viral diseases, urinary infections, respiratory infections, Gastrointestinal tract infections
 - b. Rash, legionellosis, Gardnerella.
 - c. Fever, shingles, blood loss.
 - d. Dementia, hereditary diseases, HIV
- 8. Chlorhexidine is an agent that is:
 - a. Bactericidal
 - b. Bacteriostatic
 - c. Germicidal
 - d. Antiseptic
- 9. What is the most appropriate finding that indicates the importance of the need to educate healthcare workers?

- a. The healthcare worker put on protective garments when feeding an elderly patient.
- b. Health worker wears a mask, gloves, and gown before getting into a room with an isolated patient.
- c. as the healthcare worker inform the patients with Tuberculosis that they will need to wear a mask during their stay and treatment at the hospital.
- d. The nurse's aide reminding her colleague to put on protective garment before entering a room with a patient who has tuberculosis.
- 10. Effective hand washing requires that you wash your hands for at least:
 - a. 1 minute
 - b. 15 seconds
 - c. 20 seconds
 - d. 45 seconds
- 11. What are the examples of hospital acquired infection
 - a. Ventilator associated pneumonia
 - b. Surgical site infection
 - c. Central line associated blood stream infection
 - d. All the above
- 12. Contaminated instruments, wards, beds, hospital staffs, are considered as?
 - a. Causes of Nosocomial infection
 - b. Prevention of Nosocomial infection
 - c. Diseases of Nosocomial infection

d. Sources of Nosocomial infection

13. All of the following individuals are susceptible to Nosocomial infection except?

- a. Admitting Staff
- b. Inpatients
- c. outpatients
- d. Hospital visitors.

Appendix D: Expert Evaluation

Nurses Education: Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West-Central Africa.

Frida Ashu

Doctor of Nursing Practice: NURS 8701

Walden University

100 S Washington Ave Suite 1210, Minneapolis, MN 55401

- Thank you for agreeing to evaluate my presentation for Nurses Education: Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West–Central Africa validity and usability. Please evaluate the course content based on the following statements. Rate the statements from 1-5 (1=do not agree. 5=strongly agree)
 - 1. The course objectives are specifically described
 - 2. The course content is congruent with the course objectives.
 - The content in the PowerPoint slides is appropriate and clear for the nurses to understand.
 - The information presented in the PowerPoint is appropriate to guide the nurses in understanding the principles and skills related to Preventing Nosocomial Infections.
 - Information is presented clearly to allow the nurses to put the principles and skills related to Preventing Nosocomial Infections into practice.
 - 6. The test items are specific and unambiguous.
 - 7. The test items are congruent with the course objectives.

Appendix E: Course Evaluation

Nurses Education: Preventing Nosocomial Infections in West-Central Africa

Please evaluate the course content based on the following statements. Rate the statement from 1-5 (1=do not agree. 5=strongly agree)

- 1. Was the information clearly presented?
- 2. Was the content specific to what you needed to know?
- 3. Do you believe that the method of presentation made it easy for you to understand the content?
- 4. Was the time of the presentation enough for you to understand the information presented?
- 5. Were the questions clear and related to the content presented?